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to fully consider and address the issues raised in Petitioner’s original application, the 
administrative record, any supplemental information, and additional matters to the extent of the 
Board’s jurisdiction, including “whether the record evidence indicates, under the ‘liberal 
consideration’ standard, that [post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)]-related psychoses or 
psychoneuroses contributed to the circumstances resulting in [Petitioner’s] discharge, and 
warrant[s] a change in [the] narrative reason for [Petitioner’s] discharge from the Navy.”1  See 
enclosure (1).   
 
2.  A three-member panel of the Board, meeting in executive session, reconsidered Petitioner’s 
allegations of error and/or injustice in accordance with its governing regulations and the Order of 
the COFC on 5 October 2023, and reached the conclusions discussed in paragraph 6 below.  This 
was a de novo review, with no deference assigned to the Board’s previous decision in Docket 
No. 7841-17.  None of the panel members who considered Petitioner’s application on 5 October 
2023 participated in the previous review of Petitioner’s case in Docket No. 7841-17.  The names 
of those panel members will be provided on request.  Documentary materials considered by the 
Board included the enclosures, to include specifically the Order of the COFC and the Joint 
Motion for Remand, dated 28 April 2023 (enclosure (3)), the entire administrative record for 
Petitioner’s case and Petitioner’s supplemental remand brief dated 8 June 2023 (see enclosure 
(4)),2 and the case file for Docket No. 7841-17;3 relevant portions of Petitioner’s naval record; 
and relevant statutes, regulations, and policies, to include references (b) and (d).   
 
3.  The Board determined that Petitioner’s personal appearance, with or without counsel, would 
not materially add to their understanding of the issues involved in Petitioner’s case.  
Accordingly, the Board determined that Petitioner’s personal appearance was not necessary and 
considered his petition based upon the evidence of record. 
 
4.  Factual Background.  The relevant factual background of Petitioner’s case, based upon his 
naval and medical records and other matters provided, is as follows: 
 
 a.  Petitioner enlisted in the Navy and began a period of active duty service on 17 March 
1966.  See enclosure (9). 

                       
1 The quoted language in this order came from the decision of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit 
(CAFC) in the case of  v. United States, . The CAFC found that the COFC had 
“erred in holding that the liberal consideration standard [of references (a) and (b)] does not apply to [Petitioner’s] 
petition.”  Accordingly, the CAFC remanded Petitioner’s case to the COFC to instruct the Board to reconsider its 
previous decision pursuant to the quoted language.  See enclosure (36). 
2 In accordance with the COFC Order, Petitioner submitted additional matters for consideration by the Board on 
remand by e-mail dated 12 June 2023.  These matters included the entire administrative record for Petitioner’s case, 
consisting of 1006 pages and 82 exhibits, and his 28-page supplemental remand brief (enclosure (4)).  The index for 
the administrative record provided is at enclosure (5).  
3 The case file for Docket No. 7841-17 was incorporated in the administrative record provided by Petitioner.  It 
included Petitioner’s original DD Form 149 and brief in support of his original application (enclosure (2)); the 
psychiatric evaluation report provided by Petitioner’s expert witness (enclosure (6)); an advisory opinion (AO) 
provided by the Senior Medical Advisor (SMA) for the Secretary of the Navy Council of Review Boards (CORB), 
dated 20 September 2018 (enclosure (7)); and Petitioner’s response to the CORB SMA’s AO dated 2 November 
2018 (enclosure (8)).  The latter of these items was supplemented by a memorandum from the same expert witness 
who provided the psychiatric evaluation report at enclosure (6).   
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 b.  After completing his initial recruit training at the U.S. Naval Training Center,  
, Petitioner reported for duty onboard the  on or about 22 June 

1966.  See enclosure (10). 
 
 c.  Petitioner performed messman duties from the time of his arrival onboard the  

 until on or about 13 September 1966.  See enclosure (11). 
 
 d.  On 16 September 1966, Petitioner received marks of 3.2 for every applicable performance 
trait in his first semiannual performance evaluation report.4  See enclosure (11). 
 
 e.  On 14 March 1967, Petitioner received his next semiannual performance evaluation for 
the period 17 September 1966 through 16 March 1967.  His performance for this period was 
evaluated as follows: “[Petitioner] is an adequate worker.  He seldom displays any initiative or 
interest in his work.  [Petitioner] has found it difficult to adjust to Navy life.”  See enclosure 
(12).  His marks for the performance traits of professional performance and adaptability for this 
evaluated period dropped from 3.2 to 3.0.5  See enclosure (11). 
 
 f.  By letter dated 19 April 1967, the commanding officer of the  wrote to the 
Chief of Naval Personnel (CNP) about Petitioner in response to a Congressional Inquiry received 
from Senator .6  This letter stated that Petitioner has performed his assigned 
duties in an adequate manner since reporting to the  in June 1967, referencing the 
evaluation report discussed in paragraph 4e above.  However, in explaining why Petitioner was 
not competitive for the advanced schooling he apparently desired, it stated as follows:   
 

“[Petitioner] seldom displays any initiative or interest in his work.  Upon reporting to 
, [Petitioner] had explained to him by the Division Training Petty Officer what is 

necessary for advancement.  He has not made a genuine effort to advance on his own, in that 
he has not completed his Practical Factors for Advancement or completed any of the required 
courses for advancement to [Airman (AN)].  This itself is disqualifying if one is to be 
considered for advanced schooling.” 
 

This letter further revealed that Petitioner had submitted a request for schooling, but it was 
disapproved based upon his below average performance and his failure to attempt to prepare 
himself for the test for promotion to AN.  Finally, it stated that Petitioner had again been 
counseled by his Division Officer on this matter, and indicated that Petitioner realizes what is 
expected of him.  See enclosure (13).  
                       
4 The ratable performance traits consist of professional performance, military behavior, leadership and supervisory 
ability, military appearance, and adaptability.  As Petitioner was a junior Sailor with no leadership or supervisory 
responsibilities, Petitioner’s “leadership and supervisory ability” was not rated.  A 3.0 rating is considered to meet 
the minimum Navy standard.  
5 Petitioner’s marks for the performance traits of “military behavior” and “military appearance” remained unchanged 
at 3.2. 
6 This Congressional Inquiry was initiated based upon a letter written by Petitioner’s father to the Senator, 
complaining that Petitioner was being denied the technical training allegedly promised by his recruiter.  See 
enclosure (14).  No such promise was reflected in Petitioner’s enlistment contract.  To the contrary, Petitioner 
endorsed the following statement in his enlistment contract: “I have had this contract fully explained to me, I 
understand it, and certify that no promise of any kind has been made to me concerning assignment to duty, or 
promotion during my enlistment.” 
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discharge from  reported that he described himself as “a person who has always turned the 
other cheek and has always backed away from any fights or even talking back to people,” and 
that he reported feeling “isolated and different from his shipmates.”  It also noted that Petitioner 
had completed one year of college prior to his enlistment, but quit because he was on academic 
probation, and that he joined the Navy to avoid being drafted and to receive some training.  
Petitioner’s affect was described as normal and appropriate to his thought content, and there was 
no evidence of any significant elation or depression, hallucinations, delusions, or ideas of 
reference, nor of any primary thought disorder.  His physical examination was within normal 
limits, as was his neurological examination.  After two weeks of direct observation and 
interaction with Petitioner, the  Chief of Neuropsychiatric Services, a U.S. Navy Reserve 
(USNR) Medical Corps officer, diagnosed Petitioner with a passive-aggressive personality, but 
stated that Petitioner appeared to gain some insight while hospitalized and opined that with some 
support onboard the ship Petitioner would be able to adjust to military life.  Accordingly, 
Petitioner was not recommended for administrative discharge at that point, and was returned to 
full duty.  See enclosure (22). 
 
 q.  On 23 September 1968, Petitioner reportedly witnessed two Sailors, including one of his 
friends, suffer a traumatic and gruesome death when a plane crashed onto the deck of the  

, severing his friend’s body and dragging his torso out to sea.13  He reported having to 
replay footage of the incident for hours afterwards in support of the investigative efforts.  As a 
result, he reported suffering “constant and increasingly violent nightmares” leading to sleep 
deprivation.  See enclosure (2).    
 
 r.  On 26 September 1968, Petitioner was formally notified that he was being considered for 
administrative discharge from the Navy by reason of unsuitability based upon his diagnosed 
passive aggressive personality.  See enclosure (23). 
 
 s.  On 26 September 1968, Petitioner acknowledged receipt of the notice referenced in 
paragraph 4r above, and provided the following statement in response: “I … believe that because 
of my mental state I am unfit for Naval Service.  I believe my continuing service will be of no 
benefit to the Navy and harmful to myself.  I therefore respectfully request that I be granted a 
discharge.”  See enclosure (24). 
 
 t.  By memorandum dated 30 September 1968, the  commanding officer 
strongly recommended to the CNP that Petitioner be separated from the Navy by reason of 
unsuitability due to his diagnosed passive-aggressive personality.  See enclosure (25). 
 
 u.  Petitioner was subsequently transferred to  to await 
action by the CNP on the recommendation for his administrative separation made by the  

 commanding officer.  See enclosure (25). 
 
 v.  By memorandum dated 15 October 1968, the CNP requested that Petitioner receive a 
psychiatric evaluation in accordance with BUPERS Manual Article C-10310.  See enclosure 
(26). 
                       
13 Petitioner estimated that this incident occurred during the first week in August 1968, but in fact the crash occurred 
on 23 September 1968.  Petitioner’s counsel acknowledged this discrepancy on page 10 of enclosure (4). 
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 w.  On 28 October 1968, Petitioner was evaluated by a clinical psychologist and a 
psychiatrist at the  Neuropsychiatric Clinic pursuant to the CNP’s request referenced in 
paragraph 4v above.  The mental status evaluation conducted during this session revealed no 
apparent organic or thought process disorder.  Petitioner was described as “quite agitated and 
hostile in general, as he explained his conflicts with the military.”  It was noted that “[f]urther 
background history reveals that he has had similar conflicts with other organizations.”14  His 
judgment was described as “undependable under stress and in his relationship to other people,” 
and he was further described as “continuously beset with fluctuating emotional attitudes, mainly 
because of his strong and poorly controlled hostility.”  The two evaluating mental health 
providers diagnosed Petitioner with an “Emotionally Unstable Personality,” with noted paranoid 
traits in his personality.  Specifically, they found that Petitioner “evidences a long standing 
characterological, attitudinal and behavioral pattern which existed prior to enlistment and will 
continue to manifest itself in the service.”  They further found that he was not amenable to 
psychiatric treatment within the service, does not warrant hospitalization, and does not appear 
likely to respond to rehabilitation within the service.  Accordingly, they found that he was an 
appropriate individual for an administrative separation for unsuitability pursuant to BUPERS 
Manual Article 010310.15   See enclosure (27). 
 
 x.  By letter dated 6 November 1968, presumably in response to the inquiry initiated by 
enclosure (18), Senator  was informed that the CNP had directed that Petitioner be 
separated from the Navy by reason of unsuitability.  See enclosure (28). 
 
 y.  On 21 November 1968, Petitioner was honorably discharged from the Navy under the 
authority of BUPERS Manual Article C-010310.  See enclosure (9). 
 
 z.  After his discharge from the Navy, Petitioner enrolled at the University of  

 to pursue a Bachelor of Fine Arts degree.  He claims that he dropped out after his 
receipt of news that his best friend from the Navy committed suicide triggered residual PTSD 
symptoms.16  After dropping out of college, he started working full time at a picture framing 
shop, and claims to have held many jobs over the years.  See enclosures (8) and (29). 
 
 aa. On 20 July 2013, Petitioner was evaluated by a VA psychiatrist and given a provisional 
diagnosis of Anxiety (Not Otherwise Specified) and Depressive Disorder (Not Otherwise 
Specified).  He was reportedly very concerned about his treatment in the Navy, and felt that it 
had adversely affected his entire life.  When seen on 23 September 2013, Petitioner was 
reportedly much calmer than he was previously after obtaining his military medical records.  See 
enclosure (29).  
 

                       
14 Petitioner’s pending academic probation prior to his enlistment was cited as an example.   
15 This was the paragraph corresponding to discharge of enlisted personnel by reason of unsuitability.  Character and 
behavior disorders were among the reasons listed for discharge for unsuitability.     
16 Although Petitioner now claims that it was the triggering of his PTSD symptoms upon learning of his friend’s 
suicide which caused him to drop out of school after leaving the Navy, in June 2014 he reported to the Department 
of Veterans Affairs (VA) mental health provider who was evaluating his claim for benefits based upon service-
connected PTSD that he left school because “he did not want to do what the teachers wanted as he disagreed with 
his teachers.”  See enclosure (29). 
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 bb.  In late 2013, Petitioner filed an application for disability compensation with the VA, 
claiming both PTSD and his passive-aggressive personality diagnosis among the disabilities for 
which he sought compensation.  See enclosure (30). 
 
 cc.  On 11 June 2014, Petitioner was administered a compensation and pension (C&P) 
examination by the VA after filing the claim for disability compensation referenced in paragraph 
4bb above.  In support of his claim of PTSD, he cited to the loneliness and harassment he 
suffered after the  defected, and his experience during the  
fire, as the traumatic events triggering his claimed PTSD condition.  The examining provider 
opined that Petitioner met the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM) V criteria for PTSD, and 
that he developed PTSD symptoms “soon after the plane crash, starting with nightmares per his 
history.”17  See enclosure (29). 
 
 dd.  On 21 October 2015, Petitioner received another VA C&P examination.  He was again 
found to meet the diagnostic criteria for PTSD.18  See enclosure (31). 
 
 ee.  On 16 September 2014, the VA granted Petitioner service-connection for PTSD (with 
alcohol use disorder) with a 50 percent disability rating, effective 9 December 2013.  See 
enclosure (32). 
 
 ff.  On 18 November 2015, the VA increased Petitioner’s service-connected disability rating 
for PTSD with alcohol use disorder to 70 percent, effective 27 August 2015.  See enclosure (33).   
 
5.  Procedural Background. 
 
 a.  Petitioner applied to the Board for relief on 14 September 2017, specifically requesting 
that his naval record be corrected to: (1) show that he was medically retired pursuant to 
BUPERSMAN C-10305 and reference (c);19 (2) show that he was found unfit and medically 
retired for psychoses or psychoneuroses; and (3) remove the reference to “BUPERSMAN C-
10310, SPN” from his DD Form 214.2021  In this application, he asserted that he was 
                       
17 The examining psychiatrist noted that Petitioner was very focused during the evaluation upon his perceived 
mistreatment in the Navy, particularly after the desertion of the .  Specifically, he noted that 
Petitioner believed that there was a conspiracy against him that got him discharged from the Navy in such a manner 
that he could not find gainful employment.  The evaluating psychiatrist explicitly excluded these beliefs from his 
PTSD diagnosis, basing his PTSD symptoms solely on trauma associated with the plane crash and  

 fire. 
18 The evaluating psychologist also diagnosed Petitioner with Alcohol Use Disorder and Cannabis Use Disorder, 
both moderate in sustained remission.   
19 BUPERSMAN C-10305 was the authority for separation of enlisted personnel by reason of physical disability 
(i.e., for medical retirement/separation). 
20 Block 11c of Petitioner’s DD Form 214 states “BUPERS MANUAL ART. C-10310  265” as the “Reason and 
Authority” for Petitioner’s discharge.  It is a reference to the fact that he was discharged for unsuitability due to a 
personality/character disorder.   
21 Petitioner also requested back pay for the military retirement benefits that he has been deprived since his 
discharge; compensation for lost income due to stigma; reimbursement for tuition and educational expenses; that he 
be declared immediately eligible for TRICARE benefits; and that he be compensated for his out-of-pocket medical 
costs incurred since TRICARE was not available to him.  These specific requests were beyond the Board’s authority 
to grant.  The Board is statutorily empowered to correct errors and/or remove injustices from naval records, but it is 
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misdiagnosed with a personality disorder; that he actually had PTSD caused by the traumatic 
experiences he endured onboard the ; that his PTSD condition qualified him for 
a medical retirement in November 1968; and that he has been stigmatized by the inclusion of 
reference to a personality disorder on his DD Form 214.  Included among the 58 exhibits 
enclosed with this legal brief was a psychiatric evaluation conducted in 2017 by a psychiatrist 
hired by Petitioner’s counsel.  See enclosures (2) and (6). 
 
 b.  By memorandum dated 20 September 2018, the CORB’s SMA provided an AO in 
response to a request from the Board.22  After reviewing Petitioner’s application and service and 
medical records, the CORB’s SMA recommended that Petitioner’s request for relief be denied.  
He opined that the evidence shows that Petitioner became dissatisfied with his enlistment in the 
Navy rather early on to the point of considering desertion, and noted that he had been diagnosed 
at different times with Passive Aggressive Personality and Emotionally Unstable Personality.  He 
also noted that there was no indication in that record that Petitioner ever complained of 
symptoms directly related to the  fire or the plane crash onboard the  

 in October 1968.  He did, however, observe that the Petitioner demonstrated 
problems adjusting to the Navy prior to either of these traumatic events.  He also noted that 
Petitioner’s acknowledged the notice of his administrative separation on 26 September 1968, just 
three days after the  plane crash, so that experience did not appear to play any part in 
Petitioner’s symptoms or discharge.  Finally, the CORB’s SMA opined that neither psychoses 
nor psychoneuroses (i.e., the diagnoses compensable for medical retirement purposes at the time) 
appears to have applied to Petitioner’s clinical presentation at the time.  He ultimately opined 
that the preponderance of the evidence supports the existence of significant adjustment 
difficulties beginning prior to Petitioner’s enlistment and evolving into attitudinal and behavioral 
issues in conflict with the requirements of military service prior to his exposure to the traumatic 
incidents reported.  He did not dispute Petitioner’s later diagnosis with PTSD, but noted that 
there “is little objective evidence in [Petitioner’s] Service Treatment Record … suggesting [that] 
a significant … PTSD-related stress reaction made a significant contribution to the circumstances 
resulting in the contested administrative separation.”  Finally, he suggested that “Adjustment 
Reaction of Adult Life” or “Occupational Maladjustment” might have been alternative 
diagnostic choices, but neither would have qualified for medical retirement benefits and both 
would have resulted in the same type of administrative separation.  See enclosure (7).  
 
 c.  On 2 November 2018, Petitioner, through counsel, provided a rebuttal to the AO 
referenced in paragraph 5b above.  This rebuttal described the AO as arbitrary and capricious 
because it misread the evidence in Petitioner’s case.  Specifically, it disputed the AO’s reliance 
upon the fact that Petitioner was placed on academic probation prior to his enlistment, noting that 
individuals may be placed on academic probation for any number of reasons; disputed the 
characterization of Petitioner’s service in the Navy prior to his exposure to traumatic event; and 
                       
not empowered to direct the payment of any money or benefits to an applicant.  While the Board may correct an 
applicant’s record in such a manner as to make the applicant retroactively eligible for military retirement benefits or 
military health care, it is not empowered to direct payments for damages such as loss of income, tuition and 
educational expenses incurred, or medical expenses.  In this regard, the Board notes that Petitioner was honorably 
discharged, so his discharge did not disqualify him for VA medical treatment. 
22 The CORB’s SMA also carries the title of Senior Psychiatric Advisor.  He is a Medical Doctor and Distinguished 
Life Fellow of the American Psychiatric Association. 
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 e.  On 27 December 2019, Petitioner’s filed a complaint with the COFC, alleging that the 
Board’s refusal to apply the liberal consideration guidance of reference (b) was arbitrary, 
capricious, an abuse of discretion, and contrary to law; that the Board’s decision itself was 
arbitrary, capricious, unsupported by substantial evidence, and contrary to law; and that the 
Board failed to afford Petitioner procedural due process in violation of the Fifth Amendment to 
the U.S. Constitution.  On 13 January 2021, the COFC found that it did not possess subject-
matter jurisdiction to consider Petitioner’s due process claim.28  It also found that the Board’s 
decision in Docket No. 7841-17 was in accordance with law and supported by substantial 
evidence.  In making this finding, the COFC found that the Board did not err in declining to 
apply the liberal consideration guidance of reference (b) to Petitioner’s application.  See 
enclosure (35). 
 
 f.  Petitioner subsequently appealed the COFC decision to the CAFC.  On 25 January 2023, 
the CAFC ruled that the COFC erred in holding that the liberal consideration standard of 
reference (b) does not apply to Petitioner’s application.29  Accordingly, the CAFC vacated the 
COFC decision referenced in paragraph 5e above, and remanded the case to the COFC with 
instructions to direct the Board to consider whether the record evidence indicates, under the 
“liberal consideration” standard, that PTSD-related psychoses or psychoneuroses “contributed to 
the circumstances resulting in [Petitioner]’s discharge”30 … and “warrant[s] a change in [the] 
narrative reason” for Petitioner’s discharge from the Navy.  See enclosure (36). 
 
 g.  By Order dated 9 May 2023, the COFC remanded Petitioner’s case to the Board pursuant 
to the instructions of the CAFC.  See enclosure (1).   
 
6.  CONCLUSIONS.  Upon careful review and consideration of all of the evidence of record, the 
Board found no error or injustice in Petitioner’s discharge for unsuitability due to his diagnosed 
personality disorder(s) at the time that it was administered.  However, the Board did find an 
injustice in that Petitioner’s DD Form 214 continues to make reference to a reason and authority 
for separation which can be traced back to his diagnosed personality disorder, as this reference 
unnecessarily requires Petitioner to disclose private and potentially embarrassing personal 
medical information whenever he has reason to prove his otherwise honorable service.  
Accordingly, the Board recommends that the reason and authority for Petitioner’s separation 
reflected on his DD Form 214 be changed in the interests of justice. 
 
 a.  There was no error or injustice in Petitioner’s discharge for unsuitability due to a 
personality disorder.  Specifically, the preponderance of the evidence established that Petitioner 
was properly diagnosed with a personality disorder.  As such a diagnosis provided a proper basis 
for separation for unsuitability at the time, there was nothing improper about Petitioner’s 
discharge for this reason. 
 
  (1)  The most compelling evidence that Petitioner had a personality disorder was the 
diagnosis of passive aggressive personality which rendered by the Chief of Neuropsychiatry 

                       
28 The COFC found that it did not possess subject-matter jurisdiction to consider claims based upon the due process 
clauses of the Firth or Fourteenth Amendments, because they were not money-mandating provisions. 
29 The CAFC also extended its analysis to the liberal consideration guidance contained within reference (a). 
30 The CAFC cited to reference (a) for this part of its instruction. 
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upon his discharge from the  psychiatric ward on 30 August 1968.  The Board presumes 
that the  Chief of Neuropsychiatric Services, a Lieutenant Commander in the USNR 
Medical Corps, was qualified to render such a diagnosis.  It also finds no reason to believe that 
this provider was predisposed to reach the conclusion that he did.  To the contrary, this provider 
had a professional responsibility to both Petitioner and to the Navy to accurately assess and 
diagnose Petitioner, both for the well-being of his patient and for the safety of other naval 
personnel.  Petitioner spent two weeks at the  psychiatric ward, during which time he was 
subject to constant observation by, and numerous direct interactions with, mental health 
professionals.  The diagnosis was presumably based upon these observations and interactions 
over the course of this two-week hospitalization, which provided by far the most reliable basis of 
any of the various competing diagnoses of Petitioner.  That diagnosis also appears to be 
supported by the objective evidence.  For example, enclosure (21) revealed that Petitioner 
exhibited a passive-aggressive type personality over the course of his hospitalization.  The Board 
presumes that such presentation contributed to the diagnosis.  Additionally, contrary to 
Petitioner’s contentions, the behaviors which informed this diagnosis were evident prior to his 
reported trauma exposure events.  Petitioner had demonstrated dissatisfaction with his enlistment 
and difficulty adjusting to the Navy almost from the start of his enlistment.  In fact, in March 
1967 his performance evaluation report specifically observed that he “found it difficult to adjust 
to Navy life.”  While his work performance was rated as “adequate,” it met only the bare 
minimum standards and his difficulty adjusting to the Navy was so apparent that it was noted on 
multiple occasions.  The evidence also reflects that Petitioner had similar conflicts with other 
organizations prior to his enlistment.  Specifically, he joined the Navy only after he was about to 
be placed on academic probation.  Petitioner’s counsel is correct in stating that there are many 
possible explanations for poor academic performance besides a personality disorder.  However, 
this fact was cited by both the  Chief of Neuropsychiatric Services and by the Clinical 
Psychologist and Psychiatrist who evaluated Petitioner at , as a basis for their respective 
personality disorder diagnoses.  This was not random; each of these mental health professionals 
drew a parallel between Petitioner’s pre-service academic difficulties and his difficulty adjusting 
to life in the Navy.  The Board presumes that such parallels were drawn based upon their direct 
interactions with Petitioner at different times and places.  The Board also notes that Petitioner 
reported in June 2014 that he dropped out of school after being discharged from the Navy 
because “he did not want to do what the teachers wanted as he disagreed with his teachers,”31 
providing further evidentiary support for the conclusion that Petitioner had long-standing 
difficulties adjusting to expectations imposed by institutions in an academic setting.  The 
conclusion that this was a long-standing personality type was further supported by Petitioner’s 
own words.  He described himself as “a person who has always turned the other cheek and has 
always backed away from any fights or even talking back to people.”  This statement provided a 
specific example of direct interaction with Petitioner feeding the personality disorder diagnosis.  
Ultimately, the Board found a diagnosis rendered by a qualified mental health professional after 
two weeks of direct observation and interaction with Petitioner to be the most reliable evidence 
of Petitioner’s mental health status in 1968. 
 
  (2)  The personality disorder diagnosis rendered by the  Chief of Neuropsychology 
was corroborated by the diagnosis rendered by the clinical psychologist and psychiatrist at  
who diagnosed him with an emotionally unstable personality two months later.  As this diagnosis 
                       
31 See enclosure (29). 
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was not informed by two weeks of direct observation and interaction with Petitioner, the Board 
did not find it to be as reliable as the diagnosis rendered at .  However, the Board found 
that this diagnosis tended to verify the previous diagnosis.  It confirmed the long-standing nature 
of Petitioner’s issues, and confirmed the existence of a personality disorder.  While the  
and  mental health professionals reached different conclusions regarding the type of 
personality disorder present, this difference is reasonably explained by the relatively limited 
direct observation and interaction time available to the latter and Petitioner’s presentation during 
that limited period of exposure.  The Board ultimately found the difference between these 
diagnoses to be irrelevant, as either would have provided a valid basis for Petitioner to be 
involuntarily separated for unsuitability due to a personality disorder.   
 
  (3)  Petitioner was diagnosed with a personality disorder before any of his PTSD 
symptoms began to manifest.  Both the VA mental health provider at enclosure (29) and 
Petitioner’s expert witness at enclosures (6) and (8) suggested that Petitioner’s PTSD symptoms 
began to manifest after he witnessed the plane crash on the deck of the .  This 
incident occurred on 23 September 1968, more than three weeks after he had already been 
diagnosed with the passive-aggressive personality disorder which resulted in the initiation of his 
administrative separation for unsuitability.  As Petitioner’s PTSD symptoms had not yet 
manifested as of 30 August 1968, they could not have been confused for a personality disorder.  
 
  (4)  The only material evidence that Petitioner provided to counter Petitioner’s 
personality disorder diagnoses was the opinion of his expert witness at enclosure (6), who opined 
that Petitioner’s history was not consistent with a diagnosis of a personality disorder.  The Board 
did not question or doubt this psychiatrist’s credentials or qualifications to render this opinion.  
Rather, it simply found the diagnoses rendered by multiple qualified mental health professionals 
who observed and interacted with Petitioner during the time period in question, particularly that 
which was informed by two weeks of direct observation and interaction by a provider who had a 
professional obligation to accurately assess Petitioner’s mental health at the moment of his 
diagnosis, to be more reliable than the evaluation provided by someone paid to provide an 
opinion with no professional obligation for Petitioner’s care and based upon a single interview 
and review of records nearly 50 years after the fact.  By his own admission, Petitioner was a poor 
historian for his own experience and condition.32  As such, this evaluation was primarily 
informed by the history provided by an unreliable reporter nearly 50 years after the fact.  He also 
relied upon the fact that none of the VA providers who evaluated Petitioner diagnosed him with a 
personality disorder, when in fact those providers were evaluating his claim for benefits based 
upon PTSD and were not providing a holistic mental health assessment.33 The Board also found 
it ironic that this witness questioned the credibility of the CORB’s SMA for rendering an opinion 
without considering the opinions of other doctors who evaluated Petitioner,34 while ignoring the 
opinions of the three fully qualified mental health professionals who had direct interaction with 
Petitioner during the relevant time period in 1968.  
 

                       
32 In describing his reaction upon receiving his first set of service records in June 2012, Petitioner stated that he 
“could not recall major parts of that period in my life, in fact for many years after it is a blur.” 
33 Enclosures (29) and (31) are questionnaires used exclusively to evaluate claims for PTSD.   
34 See enclosure (8). 
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  (5)  The Board noted that Petitioner included his diagnosed passive-aggressive 
personality disorder on his claim for disability compensation in enclosure (30).  While the Board 
did not find this to be conclusive evidence since Petitioner is not a trained mental health 
professional, it did consider this fact as evidence that Petitioner did not originally question the 
accuracy of the diagnosis.   
 
  (6)  As noted in its discussion of the relative credibility of the assessment provided by 
Petitioner’s expert witness in paragraph 6(a)(4) above, the Board found no relevance to 
Petitioner’s contention that the VA mental health professionals did not diagnose Petitioner with a 
personality disorder.  That was not their function.  These evaluations were conducted in the 
context of a C&P examination intended only to confirm or refute the Petitioner’s claimed PTSD 
condition.  These were not holistic mental health assessments intended to provide treatment 
and/or to identify every potential condition.  The fact that these providers did not diagnose any 
personality disorders in this context was completely irrelevant to the question of whether 
Petitioner in fact has a personality disorder. 
 
  (7)  The Board also found no relevance to Petitioner’s contention that he was medically 
cleared for enlistment.  An enlistment physical could not possibly identify the existence of any 
personality disorders not reported by the enlistee.  As such, the Board found the fact that 
Petitioner was medically cleared for enlistment and that his enlistment physical failed to identify 
any personality disorders to be irrelevant to the question of whether he in fact has a personality 
disorder.     
 
  (8)  The Board found that Petitioner exaggerated the quality of his pre-trauma 
performance to bolster his argument that he did not previously displayed the behaviors 
supporting the personality disorder diagnoses.  Specifically, he noted that he was “awarded for 
his service in Vietnam prior to witnessing the  fire and  deck crash” and 
“received the Vietnam Service Medal and a commendation for participating in combat operations 
on the .”  The Vietnam Service Medal was awarded for service in the designated area of 
operations, and the commendation that he cited was a unit award granted to every member of the 

 crew.  Neither of these awards was merit-based or provided evidence of the 
quality of Petitioner’s performance to counter the diagnoses rendered in 1968.  While 
Petitioner’s performance of duty was generally considered to be adequate throughout his naval 
service, the evidence clearly reflects that Petitioner exhibited difficulties adjusting to and 
dissatisfaction with Navy life almost from the start of his enlistment. 
 
  (9)  Petitioner made several assertions that certain facts did not provide evidence of a 
personality disorder.  Specifically, he asserted that neither his misgivings about the Vietnam War 
nor his refusal to lie about and sympathy for the  provided evidence of a 
personality disorder.  The Board found these arguments to be irrelevant, as there was no 
evidence that these factors contributed to his personality disorder diagnoses.  While Petitioner’s 
anti-war sentiments and sympathy for the  apparently contributed to his 
disillusionment with the Navy, there was no evidence that the providers who diagnosed him with 
personality disorders relied upon his political beliefs or sympathies to support those diagnoses.       
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  (10)  Petitioner’s contention that the diagnoses rendered in 1968 are untrustworthy due to 
the animus held against him by the  crew is without merit.  The diagnosis of a 
passive-aggressive personality was rendered by the Chief of Neuropsychiatric Services at .  
As such, it was rendered by someone with no affiliation to the .  Further, the 
clinical records documenting his hospitalization at  reflect no sign of the animus he 
describes, as it was apparent that Petitioner rapidly became comfortable away from the ship.  
Likewise, the emotionally unstable personality diagnosis was rendered by two mental health 
professionals at  with no affiliation to the , after Petitioner was removed 
from the ship’s crew to await a formal decision regarding his separation from the Navy.   
 
  (11)  The Board acknowledged Petitioner’s contention that the Navy has misdiagnosed 
personality disorders in the past, but found no reason to believe that it had done so in this case.   
 
 b.  Applying liberal consideration in accordance with references (a) and (b) and in 
accordance with the COFC Order, the Board found that Petitioner may have been suffering the 
symptoms of what is now known as PTSD at the time of his discharge, and that those symptoms 
may have indirectly contributed to the circumstances of his discharge. 
 
  (1)  In accordance with reference (b), the Board applied liberal consideration to 
Petitioner’s claim that he was suffering from the symptoms of what is now known as PTSD 
during his naval service.  Based upon such consideration, the Board found sufficient evidence 
that Petitioner developed symptoms of what is now known as PTSD due to the traumatic 
experienced he endured onboard the .  In this regard, the Board applied special 
consideration to the VA’s determination of the that Petitioner’s current PTSD condition was 
service-connected, and liberal consideration to the diagnosis rendered by Petitioner’s expert 
witness in enclosure (6).  Specifically, the Board applied special and/or liberal consideration to 
the diagnoses and opinions rendered by the VA’s mental health provider at enclosure (29) and 
the Petitioner’s expert witness at enclosure (6) to conclude that Petitioner began to exhibit PTSD 
symptoms, such as nightmares, sleeping problems, etc., at some point after his exposure to the 
plane crash on 23 September 1968.  This incident occurred almost two months before 
Petitioner’s discharge, so it is reasonable to assume that the symptoms may have started to 
manifest before his discharge.  Accordingly, despite the fact that Petitioner did not present the 
symptoms relied upon to sustain his current PTSD diagnosis during either of his psychiatric 
evaluations while in the Navy, to include during his two-week stay at the  psychiatric 
ward, the Board accepted as true that Petitioner had a latent PTSD condition at the time of his 
discharge. 
 
  (2)  As reference (b) provides that requests for discharge relief typically involve four 
questions, each of those questions are addressed as follows: 
 
   (a)  Did the Veteran have a condition that may excuse or mitigate the discharge?  As 
discussed above, the Board found sufficient evidence that Petitioner has a PTSD condition.   
 
   (b)  Did that condition exist during military service?  Applying liberal consideration, 
the Board found sufficient evidence to conclude that Petitioner’s PTSD condition originated 
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from the traumatic experiences he endured while onboard the  and may have 
existed prior to his discharge. 
 
   (c)  Does that condition actually excuse or mitigate the discharge?  As Petitioner was 
honorably discharged for a reason other than misconduct, there is nothing for this condition to 
excuse or mitigate.  The only misconduct in Petitioner’s record was a two-day UA in April 1968, 
which was so minor as to be irrelevant to his case. 
 
   (d)  Does that condition outweigh the discharge?  As stated above, the only 
misconduct in Petitioner’s record was his two-day UA, and that misconduct was so minor that it 
was irrelevant to Petitioner’ case.  Accordingly, there was nothing against which to weigh his 
PTSD condition. 
 
  (3)  Even applying liberal consideration, however, the Board did not find evidence that 
Petitioner suffered from any psychoses during his naval service.  Per reference (b), psychoses 
was defined as “[r]ecurrent psychotic episodes, or a single well-established psychotic episode 
with existing symptoms or residuals thereof sufficient to interfere with performance of duty or 
normal pursuits.”  There is no evidence in the record that Petitioner ever experienced a single 
psychotic episode while in the Navy, much less recurrent psychotic episodes.  Petitioner’s 
referral for a medical evaluation on 15 August 1968 did not reflect the occurrence of a psychotic 
episode.  He was specifically described during that session as being “fully oriented to person, 
place, and time.”  Additionally, in referring Petitioner for a psychiatric evaluation, the  

 Medical Officer stated that “[n]either the command nor any indivdual [sic] crew 
member about a ship such as this should be saddled with the psychological problems and their 
consequences which are developing in this induvidual [sic], whether this be a psychosis or not 
(emphasis added).”  The emphasized language of this statement suggests that the Medical 
Officer did not believe Petitioner’s psychological problem to be a psychosis, but rather only that 
his problems were not compatible with a combat vessel at war.  The Board was not persuaded in 
this regard by the fact that Petitioner was administered Thorozine during this session, which 
Petitioner identified as an anti-psychotic medication, as enclosure (20) reflects that this 
medication was administered in only small doses for the purpose of sedating Petitioner, rather 
than to treat him for any psychosis.  The Board was also not persuaded by Petitioner’s claim that 
he was referred for a psychiatric evaluation due to a “nervous collapse.”  This claim is not 
supported by the evidence.  That was how Petitioner described the circumstances of his referral 
for a psychiatric evaluation to his parents at the time, and how his parents subsequently 
explained it to Senator  in enclosure (18), but it is not what is reflected by the medical 
records.  Even if it was described as a “nervous collapse,” however, that would not meet the 
definition of psychosis.  The presentation of irrational anger and frustration does not imply the 
occurrence of a psychotic episode.  The next day, Petitioner was transferred to the  
psychiatric ward.  After two weeks of direct observation and interaction with Petitioner, the 

 Chief of Neuropsychiatric Services described Petitioner’s affect as “normal and 
appropriate to his thought process,” noted “no evidence of any significant elation or depression,” 
and stated that Petitioner experienced “no hallucinations, delusions, or ideas of reference, nor of 
any primary though disorder.”  He further described Petitioner as “oriented in all spheres,” with 
adequate memory and intellectual functioning.  Even though PTSD was not identified as a 
diagnosable condition in 1968, psychosis was such a condition, so the fact that the  Chief 
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of Neuropsychiatric Services did not diagnose Petitioner with psychosis after two weeks of direct 
observation and interaction is highly persuasive evidence that no such condition existed at the 
time.  When Petitioner received a psychiatric evaluation at  nearly two months after his 
discharge from the  psychiatric ward, a mental status examination revealed “no apparent 
organic or thought process disorder.”  In other words, he presented no evidence of psychosis.  
Finally, none of the PTSD symptoms described by Petitioner’s expert witness in either enclosure 
(6) or enclosure (8) would reasonably meet the definition of psychosis.35   
 
  (4)  Likewise, the Board also found insufficient evidence, even upon liberal consideration 
of the evidence, to find that Petitioner should have been diagnosed with psychoneuroses during 
his naval service.  Per reference (b), psychoneuroses was defined as “[s]evere symptoms, 
persistent or recurrent, requiring hospitalization or the need for continuing psychiatric support.”  
The definition also includes a caveat that “[i]ncapacity because of neurosis must be distinguished 
from weakness of motivation or underlying personality disorder,” and as noted above, Petitioner 
had been diagnosed with an underlying personality disorder which manifested itself in weakness 
of motivation before his manifestation of any PTSD symptoms.  Even applying liberal 
consideration, the evidence does not support the conclusion that Petitioner experienced severe 
persistent or recurrent symptoms requiring hospitalization or the need for continuing psychiatric 
support while he was in the Navy.  Petitioner’s referral to the  psychiatric ward was for a 
psychiatric evaluation, not for treatment of severe persistent or recurrent symptoms, and ended 
with the conclusion that such hospitalization or continuing psychiatric support was not 
necessary.  More significantly, following his discharge from  on 30 August 1968 and went 
45 years without hospitalization or psychiatric support for his PTSD symptoms, which tends to 
negate his claim that these symptoms were of such severity as to require such treatment or 
support.  Finally, the Board noted that both the VA mental health provider who first diagnosed 
Petitioner with PTSD in enclosure (29), and Petitioner’s own expert witness in enclosures (6) 
and (8), found that Petitioner’s PTSD symptoms (i.e., nightmares, sleeping problems, etc.) began 
to manifest after witnessing the plane crash.  This incident occurred on 23 September 1968, just 
three days before Petitioner’s administrative separation for unsuitability due to a personality 
disorder which had already been diagnosed and his transfer to  to await action on that 
recommendation.  While Petitioner’s expert witness may have identified the onset of PTSD 
symptoms during his naval service, he did not identify any severe symptoms requiring 
hospitalization during Petitioner’s naval service.  The justification that he relies upon to support 
his opinion that Petitioner should have been diagnosed with psychoneurosis while in the Navy 
primarily focuses on how Petitioner’s PTSD condition manifested itself after his naval service.  
While such post-service manifestations may support his receipt of VA disability compensation 
for service-connected PTSD, they do not support the conclusion that Petitioner should have been 
diagnosed with psychoneuroses while in the Navy.  As stated above, the Board accepted as true 
that Petitioner developed what we now know as PTSD as a result of his exposure to traumatic 
events onboard the , and that the symptoms of this condition may have begun to 
manifest prior to his discharge from the Navy, but simply did not find any evidence to support 
the conclusion that he should have been diagnosed with either psychosis or psychoneurosis while 
he was in the Navy.   The fact that these conditions may have been the closest analogue 

                       
35 The Board acknowledges and notes that Petitioner’s expert witness did not suggest that Petitioner’s symptoms 
reflected psychosis.  Rather, he expressed his opinion that they were consistent with a diagnosis for psychoneurosis 
at the time.   



Subj:   REVIEW OF NAVAL RECORD OF FORMER , USN,  
XXX-XX-     

19 
 

conditions in reference (b) to what we now know as PTSD does not mean that a PTSD condition 
necessarily should have been diagnosed as either psychosis or psychoneurosis at the time.      
 
  (5)  In accordance with reference (a), the Board reviewed Petitioner’s claim with liberal 
consideration that his PTSD condition potentially contributed to the circumstances resulting in 
his discharge.  Applying very liberal consideration in this regard, the Board found that 
Petitioner’s PTSD condition did potentially contribute indirectly to the circumstances of his 
discharge.  Specifically, the Board found it plausible, if not likely, that Petitioner’s pre-existing 
personality disorder made him more susceptible to developing PTSD upon exposure to traumatic 
events, and that in turn his exposure to traumatic events amplified the presentment of his 
personality disorder.  This conclusion is supported by the fact that Petitioner’s attitudinal issues, 
and anger and disillusionment with the Navy seemed to increase after his exposure to the 
traumatic events he experienced onboard the .  Additionally, the anger and 
hostility manifested by Petitioner during his psychiatric evaluation on 28 October 1968 could 
have been influenced by his nascent PTSD condition.  The Board believes it likely that such 
manifestations would have developed regardless of his exposure to traumatic events given his 
anti-war sentiments, but accepts that these traumatic events potentially contributed to their 
manifestation based upon the application of liberal consideration.   
 
 c.  Although the Board accepted as true the premise that Petitioner’s PTSD condition 
potentially contributed to the circumstances of Petitioner’s discharge, as discussed above, it did 
not find that this conclusion warranted a change to Petitioner’s narrative reason for separation to 
reflect his discharge for physical disability.36  Petitioner’s argument in this regard fails for 
several reasons: 
 
  (1)  The first reason that Petitioner’s argument fails in this regard is that he seems to 
present his proper diagnosis as an “either-or” scenario.  Specifically, he seems to argue that since 
his proper diagnosis was PTSD that he could not have had a personality disorder.37  This is not 
accurate.  Both diagnoses may be accurate, and based upon liberal consideration the evidence 
suggests that they both were.  Petitioner’s in-service presentation clearly supported the in-service 
personality disorder diagnoses that he received from the multiple mental health professionals 
who had direct observation and interaction with him at the time, while the development and 
progression of his post-service mental health challenges support the conclusion that he had an 
underlying PTSD-related condition resulting from his exposure to traumatic experiences onboard 
the .  As discussed above, the Board found it likely that Petitioner’s personality 
disorder made him more susceptible to develop PTSD as a result of his traumatic exposures, 
while his exposure to traumatic incidents likely amplified the presentation of his personality 
disorder.  In any case, the Board rejected the notion that the existence of an underlying PTSD-
related condition negated or undermined the accuracy of Petitioner’s personality disorder 
diagnoses. 
 

                       
36 As discussed further below, the Board found that a change to Petitioner’s narrative reason for separation was 
warranted on other grounds.  
37 The Board acknowledges that Petitioner did not explicitly make this argument.  However, it is clearly implied 
throughout his application. 
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  (2)  The second and more important reason that Petitioner’s argument fails in this regard 
is that he seems to assume that the mere existence of a PTSD condition (or, in this case, a PTSD-
related psychosis or psychoneurosis condition since PTSD itself was not recognized at the time) 
would render him unfit and therefore entitled to a medical separation or retirement.  This belief is 
apparent from his application and argument.  For example, in support of his opinion rendered in 
enclosure (6) that the proper disposition of Petitioner’s case was for Petitioner to have been 
found “unfit” pursuant to BUPERSMAN C-10305, Petitioner’s expert witness simply restated all 
of the evidence supporting his conclusion that Petitioner was exhibiting manifestations of what 
would currently be classified as PTSD.  This included his exposure to traumatic events, and his 
manifestation of PTSD-related symptoms during his service and their persistence throughout the 
years following his service.  Nothing in his opinion addressed how Petitioner’s PTSD condition 
rendered him unfit;38 rather, his conclusion regarding Petitioner’s unfitness was based solely 
upon the existence of the PTSD condition.  Petitioner’s counsel essentially echoed this argument 
in enclosure (2) in the context of equating Petitioner’s PTSD condition to psychosis and/or 
psychoneurosis, and erroneously stated in enclosure (4) that either psychosis or psychoneurosis 
“would have required disability retirement in 1968.”  The assumption that the mere existence of 
PTSD, or a PTSD-related psychosis or psychoneurosis condition, warranted a finding of 
unfitness for continued naval service is simply wrong.  
 
   (a)  As noted above, the Board found insufficient evidence to conclude that Petitioner 
should have been diagnosed with either a psychosis or psychoneurosis condition.  However, even 
if such conditions existed at the time, their mere existence would not automatically qualify 
Petitioner for separation by reason of physical disability pursuant to BUPERS Manual Article C-
10305.  While reference (c) listed these conditions among those which “normally” renders a 
Service member unfit for further service, it did not state that they necessarily did so in every 
case.  To be unfitting, such conditions would have to have rendered Petitioner unable to perform 
the duties of his office, rank, grade, or rating in such a manner as to reasonably fulfill the 
purpose of his employment on active duty.  Petitioner offered no evidence to establish that 
Petitioner’s condition, be it PTSD, or a PTSD-related psychosis or psychoneurosis, rendered him 
unable to reasonably perform his duties.  To the contrary, in attempting to refute the CORB 
SMA’s AO in enclosure (8), Petitioner’s counsel inadvertently demonstrated that Petitioner was 
at all times during his naval service fully capable of performing those duties to standard.  
Specifically, he observed that the “reports show that [Petitioner] performed his duties 
satisfactorily, even if he was not a stellar sailor (emphasis added)” and that the records “do not 
show misconduct.” 
 
   (b)  Petitioner’s argument that the Navy determined Petitioner to be unfit to perform 
his duties when it separated him for unsuitability is without merit.  There is a marked difference 
between being unsuited for military service and being unable to perform the duties of one’s 
office, rank, grade, or rating.  This is obvious from the fact that in 1968 one could be separated 
for unsuitability due to homosexuality among other reasons which have no impact upon one’s 
ability to perform their duties.  The Board found no merit or logic to Petitioner’s argument that 
they are functionally identical.  The Navy clearly did not, as Petitioner’s counsel suggests, 

                       
38 Reference (c) provided that “[a] member is unfit because of physical disability when he is unable to perform the 
duties of his office, rank, grade, or rating in such a manner as to reasonably fulfil the purpose of his employment on 
active duty.” 
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determine that Petitioner was unfit to perform his duties when it separated him for unsuitability.  
Rather, it separated him for unsuitability because his demonstrated attitudinal and adaptability 
issues manifested by his pre-existing personality disorder, which predated his exposure to any of 
his traumatic experiences onboard the .  At no time was there ever any question 
regarding Petitioner’s ability to perform his duties in such a manner as to reasonably fulfill the 
purpose of his employment. 
 
  (3)  Both the VA mental health provider who diagnosed Petitioner with PTSD in 2014 
and Petitioner’s own expert witness who conducted a psychiatric evaluation upon him in 2017 
concluded that Petitioner’s PTSD symptoms manifested after his exposure to the plane crash on 
the deck of the .  This incident occurred on 23 September 1968, and three days 
later he was removed from the ship and transferred to  to await a final decision on his 
administrative separation initiated due to his personality disorder.  As such, it is unfortunately 
impossible to prove that the onset of his PTSD condition rendered Petitioner unable to perform 
the duties of his office, rank, grade, or rating.       
 
  (4)  Besides the fact that Petitioner offered no evidence that his PTSD-related condition 
rendered him unfit for continued service, the objective evidence in the record strongly suggests 
that he remained capable of performing his duties at all times throughout his naval service.   
 
   (a)  The most convincing evidence that Petitioner remained capable of performing the 
duties of his office, rank, grade, or rating throughout this naval service is that he actually did so.  
As Petitioner’s counsel noted, Petitioner’s work performance was routinely assessed as adequate 
and within the Navy standards.  His professional performance was rated at, or above, the Navy 
standard throughout his service except for the period between March 1967 and September 1967.  
His performance over this six-month period was rated as 2.8, slightly below the Navy standard, 
but it rebounded over the following six-month period to 3.4, which was the highest performance 
rating of his career.  The fact that Petitioner’s duty performance improved significantly after his 
exposure to the traumatic events that may have contributed to his PTSD condition severely 
undermines any argument that his PTSD condition rendered him unable to perform his duties. 
 
   (b)  Petitioner was performing his duties in a presumably effective manner on the 
flight deck of the  on 23 September 1968, just three days before his 
administrative separation for unsuitability was initiated and he was transferred to  to await a 
decision by the CNP.  He was then relied upon by the command to assist with the investigation 
of the accident.  The Board finds it highly unlikely that the command would have employed 
Petitioner in this capacity if there were any question regarding his ability to do so. 
 
   (c)  After two weeks of direct observation of and interaction with Petitioner, the 

 Chief of Neuropsychiatric Services recommended that Petitioner be returned to full duty.  
As this provider had a professional obligation to act in both the Petitioner’s and the Navy’s best 
interests, this recommendation is compelling evidence that there was nothing about Petitioner’s 
presentation at the time which raised concerns that continued service would jeopardize his 
health.  The record of this two-week hospitalization reflects that Petitioner left  with 
improved insight and motivation to adapt to Navy life.   
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   (d)  Petitioner’s PTSD condition did not compel him to engage in misconduct.  As 
noted previously, Petitioner’s record of misconduct in the Navy consisted of only a two-day UA 
in April 1968, which ended upon his voluntary return to the .  This was 
extremely minor misconduct, which had no bearing on his discharge.  The fact that Petitioner 
remained capable of conforming his conduct to standards suggests that his PTSD condition did 
not render him unfit. 
 
   (e)  Even assuming, as the Board did through the application of liberal consideration 
to his claim, that Petitioner had a nascent PTSD condition prior to his discharge from the Navy, 
his presentation of PTSD symptoms during his naval service was so minimal that his condition 
would not have raised any question regarding his ability to perform the duties of his office, rank, 
grade, or rating.  While his symptoms may have worsened in the years following his discharge, 
such manifestations would not retroactively render Petitioner unfit during his naval service. 
 
   (f)  Upon his discharge from the Navy, Petitioner returned to school at the University 
of  to pursue a Bachelors of Fine Arts degree.  Although such a pursuit 
is unrelated to the duties that he was expected to perform onboard the , this 
suggests that Petitioner left the Navy with a functional capacity which would translate to the 
ability to perform his duties.  It was only after he learned of the suicide of one of his friends that 
his PTSD was reportedly triggered and that he claims to have become unable to continue with his 
studies.  That occurrence, however, is irrelevant to the analysis of whether he was able to 
perform his duties while in the Navy.        
 
  (4)  The four previous Board decisions that Petitioner cited as precedent for the relief that 
Petitioner seeks in the present case are clearly distinguishable and do not support the relief that 
he requests.39  In each of those cases, the applicant sought to have the characterization of service 
resulting from their misconduct-based discharges upgraded based upon their claimed PTSD 
conditions.  In accordance with reference (b), the Board applied liberal consideration to these 
claims, and found that the claimed PTSD conditions mitigated the misconduct which resulted in 
their discharge.  Essentially, the analysis discussed in paragraph 6(b)(2) above was different for 
these cases than it is in the present case.  By contrast to each of these cases, Petitioner did not 
seek an upgrade to his characterization of service.  Rather, he sought to recharacterize the basis 
for his discharge.  As such, the previous decisions cited by Petitioner provided no precedential 
value for Petitioner’s case.  
 
 d.  Despite not specifically requested by Petitioner, the Board also reviewed Petitioner’s 
application in accordance with the guidance of reference (d).  Among other considerations, 
reference (d) directs the Board to consider that “[c]hanges in policy, whereby a Service member 
under the same circumstances today would reasonably be expected to receive a more favorable 
outcome than the applicant received, may be grounds for relief” in determining whether to grant 
relief on the basis of an injustice.40   A Service member under the same circumstances today 
would likely be discharged just as Petitioner was, but would not reasonably expect that his DD 

                       
39 In enclosure (8), Petitioner requested that the Board take into consideration its previous decisions in Docket Nos. 
13255-14, 1100-14, 5850-14, and 3349-14.  In each of those cases, the Board applied liberal consideration to a 
claimed PTSD condition and upgraded the applicant’s characterization of service.  
40 See paragraph 6f of the attachment to reference (d). 






